GREATER MANCHESTER PENSION FUND - LOCAL PENSIONS BOARD

28 July 2022

Commenced: 15:00 Terminated: 16:45

Present: Councillor Fairfoull Employer Representative - Chair

Michael Cullen
Jayne Hammond
Employer Representative
Employer Representative
Employer Representative
Employer Representative
Employee Representative
Catherine Lloyd
Employee Representative
Chris Goodwin
Employee Representative

Apologies for Absence David Schofield

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Paul Taylor declared a prejudicial interest in Item 15 – Progress Report on Risk Management and Audit Services 4 April 2022 to 8 July 2022 as Group Change Director at LTE Group.

2 MINUTES

The minutes of the Local Pensions Board meeting on the 7 April 2022 were approved as a correct record.

3 ADMINISTRATION UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director for Pensions Administration. The report provided the Local Board with a summary of the key activities taking place in the Administration Section during the last quarter, including comments on administration performance and on complaints disputes.

The administration performance dashboard for quarter 4, January to March 2022, was attached to the report at Appendix 1. The first six months of this year had been particularly busy. Member newsletters were issued to contributors and those with benefits on hold in February to disclose pension transfer changes and provided a general update. These were closely followed by the issuing of P60s and newsletters for pensioner members in March and April. Annual benefit statements to those with benefits on hold were then issued in May. All these communications had generated increased levels of member engagement, which was reflected in the call, email, and website statistics, and in the number of members attending an event.

In regards to Member Services, before the start of the pandemic, work had begun on changing the casework workflows within the Altair pension system that measure performance using target times. This work had to be put on hold while work linked to moving processes online was prioritised. However, work recommenced in quarter 4 and most workflows were amended with effect from 1 April 2022 so regular reporting could recommence across a wider number of areas.

It was reported that the regulations stated that a member should give the Fund at least three months' notice if they wanted to request payment of their benefits. Before the pandemic, GMPF had generally been able to respond to a request within two to four weeks, but this became on average four to eight weeks throughout the pandemic period due to demand and the changes to working arrangements. For the last six months, the team had been working towards moving this process online, which should significantly reduce the wait times. They have worked with the software supplier and other funds to ensure developments are made in My Pension that would allow the transition to online processing to take place.

It was explained that demand from members to access their benefits had increased. This was likely to be due to the fact the members with benefits on hold received their annual benefit statement in May 2022 and it could also be due to some members wishing to take their benefits early due to financial pressures caused by the cost-of-living crisis. This meant that the wait times had increased further and so tackling this area of work and reducing wait times was the primary focus for the service at present.

The work to produce Annual Benefit Statements for 2021/2022 for both contributing members and members with benefits on hold has been taking place. The statements for members with benefits on hold were all uploaded to member M y Pension accounts by 31 May 2022. Statements for contributing members for two of the larger employers was completed as a pilot exercise in June 2022. The remaining statements for contributing members would be uploaded to My Pension accounts by 31 August 2022. All members who had requested paper communications or an alternative form for accessibility reasons will also receive a copy in their chosen format by 31 August.

The project to move processes online continues to progress, with the following processes all now online:

- New starters
- Benefits on hold
- Leavers with less than two years
- Immediate retirements
- Internal transfer options (1 of 6)

As part of the Funds anti-fraud work, the team undertook an annual process to confirm pensioners that live overseas were still alive and due their pension, referred to as an existence check. This annual exercise was now underway, with 2,271 members being written to in June 2022.

As mentioned at the last meeting, in January 2022, the DWP laid before Parliament the Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) (Requirements to Refer Members to Guidance etc) (Amendment) Regulations 2022. Since the last meeting, work had been undertaken and completed to make the necessary changes to fulfil the requirements of these regulations.

In regards to Employer Services, there continued to be a significant number of employers applying to join GMPF with 79 applications currently being progressed. A further 30 enquiries had also been made by employers considering applying for admission.

Monthly data submissions continued to be monitored at the TPR breaches meeting held monthly. Two large employers were behind with their iConnect submissions for April, May, and June 2022 due to payroll software issues. It was expected that both employers would be up to date by 31 July 2022. The Employer Data team had been monitoring employers who had been sent a notice of warning letter during the last quarter. Out of the 230 employers who were in breach of the terms of the Pension Administration Strategy, 210 of these had demonstrated an improvement in their performance. The remaining 20 cases were being escalated in line with the Pension Administration Strategy.

The new employer year in review reports had been distributed to the ten local authorities for 2021/2022. These reports provide each employer with statistics and information relating to their GMPF members and highlighted how well it was thought that they were fulfilling their role as an LGPS employer.

It was reported that demand had been high on the Customer Services team during the last six months. The dashboard at Appendix 3 reflected this, and response wait times for emails as well as calls had been higher than normal.

Registrations for My Pension continued to increase steadily. Annual benefit statement notification

emails were due to be emailed to all contributing members that the fund held an email address for in the next quarter. This would include those who were not yet registered for my pension to initiate engagement and encourage sign up.

RESOLVED

That the information provided in the report be noted.

4 GMPF IT & SYSTEMS UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director of Administration. The report provided the Local Board with a summary of the main IT work and related projects being worked on.

The Assistant Director for Pensions Administration delivered a presentation on the roles, responsibilities, infrastructure, current strategic objectives and priorities of the systems team. The Strategic Lead for Developments and Technologies set out the strategic objectives and priorities:

- 1. Further reduce on premise footprint
- 2. Replacement of remaining physical hardware
- 3. Back-up and disaster recovery enhancements
- 4. Further increase cyber resilience
- 5. Implement and develop new service desk software
- 6. Microsoft Licencing procurement
- 7. Legal casework system replacement
- 8. Transform the Altair testing process to maximise benefits

The Board were reminded that there was a GMPF overarching system risks and IT risk register. Ongoing projects that posed risks included:

- TMBC changes / policy changes Multi Factor Authentication, Single Sign on and Office 365
- BACS software replacement
- Domain privilege management
- System log management

Future priorities would include reviewing website hosting where websites were hosted by Tameside MBC. Systems would look at utilising Office AV to support hybrid working and meetings. The development of SharePoint Hub and maximising the features and functionality within Microsoft 365 to maximise efficiencies. Future priorities would also include improving efficiencies through AI and robotics.

Members of the Board discussed how the use of AI would impact the number of team members within the service. In response to questions it was explained that AI was seen as a way to enhance customer experience and could even generate more work and contact for staff.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

5 2022 ACTUARIAL VALUATION

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director of Pensions for Funding and Business Development.

Members of the Local Pensions Board were advised that the actuarial valuation process would determine the funding position of GMPF at 31 March 2022 and contribution rates for each participating employer from 1 April 2023. All LGPS funds in England and Wales were undertaking

actuarial valuations at this time. Traditionally actuarial valuations in the LGPS had been undertaken every 3 years. At the time of the 2019 valuation Government consulted on aligning the local valuation cycle in the LGPS with the 4-yearly valuation cycle for other Public Service Pension Schemes. Government confirmed in its response that it would not be changing the valuation cycle at the 2019 valuation but did not rule out a change in future. The most likely outcome was that the contribution rates set at this valuation will also apply for a 3-year period.

Preliminary indications are that GMPF will disclose a broadly similar funding level at the 2022 valuation compared to 31 March 2019. GMPF's investment return have exceeded the assumption made at the 2019 valuation, but an increase in future expected price inflation is likely to increase the present value of the Fund's liabilities, offsetting much of the asset gains.

Members of the Board received a presentation which detailed the valuation timetable, how employer contribution rates were calculated and the experience since the 2019 valuation. The Assistant Director detailed the key 2022 valuation assumptions which were set out in the funding strategy statement including investment returns, CPI, life expectancy and salary growth.

The Board were advised that the Funding Strategy Statement ('FSS') provided guidance to the Actuary in undertaking the actuarial valuation. Given the focus on the affordability and sustainability of public sector pensions, the FSS had become a key document in defining how an administering authority will meet its responsibilities in managing an LGPS fund. Management Panel had agreed initial methodology and actuarial assumptions for consultation with employers. The FSS explained how the actuarial assumptions, which would be used to calculate draft results for consideration at the autumn meetings of the Management Panel and the Administration, Employer Funding and Viability Working Group had been derived.

A draft version of the updated FSS was attached as Appendix 1 to the report. The updated FSS incorporated GMPF's policies on the usage of 'Employer Flexibilities' and assessing exit credits which could be payable to employers, which were created during the inter-valuation period.

It was highlighted that a key area for consideration at this valuation was whether there would be any material benefits from a change in approach to how GMPF structures Multi Academy Trust ('MAT') participations.

Officers have held discussions with a variety of MATs to understand their views.

Discussion ensued between Board Members on the FSS. Members of the Board expressed how consultation with employers would be crucial this year due to the pressures that employers would be under.

RESOLVED

That the Local Board Note the report and Hymans Robertson's slides which are attached as Appendix 1.

6 SUMMARY OF GMPF DECISION MAKING

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director of Pensions for Funding and Business Development. The report summarised the recommendations made by the GMPF Working Groups over the period from April 2022 to July 2022, which were approved at the Management Panel meeting on 15 July 2022.

The Assistant Director for Funding and Business Development summarised the recommendations made by the Administration, Employer Funding and Viability Working Group and Investment Monitoring and ESG working Group on the 8 April 2022 and the recommendations made by the Policy and Development Working Group on the 23 June 2022.

At its 15 July 2022 meeting, the GMPF Management Panel approved the recommendations from

the various Working Group meetings.

The 2022 actuarial valuation was discussed at this meeting, with the Fund's actuary, Hymans Robertson, providing a presentation. The main discussion centred on the Funding Strategy Statement. Under Regulation 58 of the LGPS Regulations it was necessary to consult with relevant parties on the FSS. It was recommended that the Management Panel:

- (i) Note the report and the presentation from Hymans Robertson
- (ii) Approve the draft Funding Strategy Statement for consultation with employers following further discussion at the Administration, Employer Funding and Viability Working Group on 29 July.

Investment Strategy and tactical positioning during 2022/23 were discussed. This report provided an opportunity to review the benchmark asset allocations for the Main Fund and to consider any changes to the investment restrictions. Investment strategy is crucial in determining the investment success of the Fund in relative and absolute terms over the long term. The report examined the various asset classes, their challenges and opportunities going forward. It was recommended that the Management Panel:

(i) Approve the recommendations set out at Section 17 of the report. (The recommendations cover 12 issues ranging from overall Main Fund asset allocation to benchmark indices).

A report was presented to Management Panel undertaking a review of the Fund's Investment Management arrangements and the appointments of the Fund's external active Securities Managers. The Investment Management arrangements of the Fund reflect a wide range of significant past decisions concerning how the Fund chooses to position itself in terms of the management of its assets. These significant decisions include, inter alia, a consideration of the choice of benchmark and the detail of any bespoke benchmark, and whether, for example, to adopt active versus passive management or specialist versus multi-asset management. It was recommended that the Management Panel:

- (i) Note the report
- (ii) Endorse the continuing rebalancing of the Main Fund Asset Allocation that was considered as part of the 2018/19 Investment Strategy. (The Main Fund is formally monitored once a year immediately following the review of Investment Strategy and rebalanced back to the Main Fund benchmark allocation as necessary. The nature, timing and detailed implementation of any required benchmark changes are settled by the Director of Pensions following consultation with the Advisors and/or managers where appropriate).

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

7 POOLING UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director for Funding and Business Development. This report provided an update on the activities of the Northern LGPS Pool and relevant national pooling developments.

Members of the Board were provided with an update on the expected revisions to the draft statutory guidance on LGPS asset pooling. Prior to the recent ministerial changes, which included Greg Clark replacing Michael Gove as Secretary of State at DLUHC, civil servants had indicated that a consultation on several key policy areas for the LGPS was expected to be issued in autumn 2022. This consultation was expected to cover LGPS pooling as well as other related matters such as the implementation of TCFD ('Task-force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure') requirements for LGPS funds.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

8 LOCAL BOARD ANNUAL REPORT

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director for Funding and Business Development. In line with best practice, GMPF had previously included a report on the activity of the Local Board within the GMPF Annual Report. The GMPF Annual Report would not be finalised until the administering authority's accounts were approved, this was expected to occur in autumn. The guidance for establishing and operating local pensions boards issued by the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board recommends that it is good practice for local boards to publish an annual report of their activities. The draft GMPF Local Board annual report for 2021/22 could be seen attached at Appendix 1.

Members of the Board discussed the attendance at conferences and training events set out in the report. The Assistant Director for Funding and Business Development encouraged all members of the Board to continue to actively seek training opportunities and complete the online modules provided by Hymans Robertson.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

9 BUSINESS PLANNING AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions. The report provided details of the current business plan and highlighted the current key risks being monitored.

The report set out the progress being made on the six key strategic projects set out in the 2021/22 business plan. All projects were reported to be on track, with the key project 3, IT infrastructure, DR arrangements and cyber security being reported as having a minor lag.

Overall, progress was generally in line with the timescales. All business plan tasks continued to be monitored and reviewed each month by the Director of Pensions. Details of updates and revisions to the business plan for 2022/23 would be presented at the next meeting in September.

The overarching risk register was reviewed and updated at least once each quarter and the latest version was included within this report for review at Appendix A. The key risks being monitored at present were listed on the 'Current Issues' tab.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

10 THE PENSIONS REGULATOR (TPR)

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Pensions / Assistant Director for Funding and Business Development / Assistant Director for Pensions Administration. The report provided a copy of the current breaches log and decisions made by the Scheme Manager regarding the reporting of these breaches, including details of the late payment of contributions. The report also provided an update on the Pensions Regulator's proposed Single Code of Practice.

A copy of the current breaches log (excluding late payments of contributions) was attached as Appendix 1. The criteria that officers use to assist them in assessing whether a breach might be deemed 'material' was also attached at Appendix 2. GMPF Officers met on a monthly basis to consider the materiality of any breaches, which had occurred and discuss appropriate actions to be taken to minimise the potential for breaches to occur in future.

The report set out that one of the key requirements of Code of Practice number 14 was that Scheme Managers operate appropriate systems and controls to ensure that contributions were paid to the Scheme in accordance with requirements in the Scheme Regulations. Officers met on a monthly basis to discuss issues that related to the monitoring of late contributions and other payments (such as early retirement strain costs) and examined options for revising and improving current processes. Following the implementation of monthly data collection from employers, compliance with data submission deadlines was also monitored.

Attached to the report at Appendix 3 were details of expected contribution payments (with matching remittance information) which had not been received by GMPF by the 19th of the month following the month to which they relate (for example 19 June for May contributions) for February 2022 through to May 2022.

Further analysis on the contribution payments received in respect of the February 2022 to May 2022 period, specifically detailing the number of employers making payments (and the amount of contribution payments received) in accordance with GMPF's deadline of the first day of the following month could be found attached at appendix 4.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SERVICES PLANNED WORK 2022/23

Consideration was given to a report of the Interim Head of Risk Management and Audit Services. The report presented the planned work for the Risk Management and Audit Service for 2022/23.

It was reported that 300 days would be provided to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund in 2022/23. The full Annual Audit Plan for 2022/23 was included at Appendix 1. The overall Annual Audit Plan for Tameside Council, which included the days for the Greater Manchester Pension Fund, was approved by the Audit Panel on 15 March 2022.

Productive days per auditor were estimated and any changes to the assumptions made would be reflected during the year and reported to the Local Board as part of the progress reports. The plan would be kept under constant review and regular meetings would be held with the Senior Management Team and the Chair of the Local Board to ensure that it reflects the keys risks for the Pension Fund going forward.

The report set out that the Internal Audit Strategy and the Internal Audit Charter were approved by the Audit Panel on 15 March 2022 and were attached at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 for the information of the members of the Local Board.

In addition, the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme approved by the Audit Panel on 15 March 2022 was attached to the report at Appendix 4.

RESOLVED that members NOTE:

- (i) Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23 shown at Appendix 1 and note the planned work for the Risk Management and Insurance Team.
- (ii) the Audit Strategy for 2022/23 shown at Appendix 2.
- (iii) the Audit Charter for 2022/23 shown at Appendix 3.
- (iv) the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme for 2022/23 shown at Appendix 4.

12 RISK MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SERVICES - ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

Consideration was given to a report of the Interim Head of Risk Management and Audit Services. The report summarised the work performed by the Service Unit and provided assurances as to the

adequacy of the Councils systems of internal control.

In regards to audit coverage. It was reported that the actual days delivered to 31 March 2022 of 321 were higher than the Revised Plan of 300 by 21 Days.

The Interim Head of Risk Management and Audit Services highlighted the audit opinions issued in relation to risk/system based audit work for 2021/22, compared to 2020/21 and 2019/20. In total there were 11 final reports issued in 2021/22, of which 8 were given a high opinion, 1 medium, 1 low and 1 consultancy.

In addition to the reports issued, a number of days were allocated throughout the year to work that did not generate a report with a level of assurance attached. The areas listed below are examples of this work:-

- Advice and consultancy work provided to support the implementation of new or updated systems/processes;
- Computer Audit Advice (provided by Salford Computer Audit Services);
- Investigations into allegations of Fraud/Irregularities;
- Investigating Information Incidents;
- Control Reports;
- Review of iConnect submissions by Employers;
- Advice re Life Certificate process;
- Digital Tax, and
- Advice in relation to the procurement of the new BACS System.

The percentage rate of all recommendations implemented for 2021/22 was 85% compared to 90% in 2020/21. Due to COVID-19 the implementation of recommendations had been delayed in some areas and where significant issues were still outstanding a second Post Audit Review would be scheduled.

In regards to anti-fraud work there were two cases investigated during the period April 2021 to March 2022.

The data sets for the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 2020 Exercise were uploaded to the Cabinet Office' Secure System in October 2020 and the initial matches identified for Tameside were received in February 2021, although the website was refreshed on an ongoing basis as matches were added. A summary of the key matches identified for investigation was detailed in the report.

The report set out the key priorities for the Risk Management and Insurance team during 2021/22 and the progress against these priorities.

It was explained that the performance of the section was monitored in a variety of ways and a number of indicators had been devised to enable comparisons between financial years and between similar organisations. Formal benchmarking using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy had not taken place for a number of years due to budget cuts and capacity; however, the North West Chief Audit Executive Group was aiming to reintroduce the comparison of a small number of key performance indicators, albeit this had been delayed due to COVID-19.

The Key Performance Indicators for Internal Audit as a whole for 2021/22 were detailed in the report with a comparison to the two previous years 2020/21 and 2019/20.

RESOLVED

That the report and the performance of the services during 2021/22 be noted.

At this juncture, Paul Taylor took no further part in the consideration of the following item of business, having declared a prejudicial interest as Group Change Director at LTE Group.

13 PROGRESS REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SERVICES 4 APRIL 2022 TO 8 JULY 2022

Consideration was given to a report of the Interim Head of Risk Management and Audit Services. The report summarised the work of the Risk Management and Audit Service for the period 4 April 2022 to 8 July 2022.

The progress report covered the work undertaken on the 2022/23 Plan for the period 4 April 2022 to 8 July 2022. The team continued to work remotely from home, in the main, although opportunities were now becoming available to work/meet in office space should staff wish to, as the COVID restrictions had now been lifted, and w a hybrid way of working was developed.

The progress report showing the actual days spent against the planned days for 2022/23 was attached at Appendix 1. The service had spent 49.79 days against the 300 planned days up to 8 July 2022. During this period 4 final reports had been issued and 1 draft report had been issued. Two employer audits were discussed which both received a Medium Level of Assurance.

The audit of the LTE group identified key issues such as the incorrect calculation of Assumed Pensionable Pay and the failure to have an approved Discretions Policy in place. A number of issues were found in other areas and a total of six recommendations were made.

The audit of Trafford MBC identified key issues such as the incorrect reporting of Assumed Pensionable Pay on the iConnect file, the incorrect treatment of retrospective pay for pension purposes and the untimely submission of the monthly iConnect files. A number of issues were found in other areas and a total of eleven recommendations were made.

The iConnect Post Implementation Review received a Medium Level of Assurance. iConnect is a secure platform which enables employers of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) to submit pensions data for their employees on a monthly basis. iConnect reduces the costs and risks associated with processing pension data, by seamlessly generating automatic submissions of monthly data collection to GMPF in a single solution. The overall objective of the audit was to undertake a post implementation review in respect of the monthly data collection system, iConnect to ensure that the system was working as intended and contained all the necessary controls, as agreed with Internal Audit, during the implementation process. The introduction of monthly data collection, via the iConnect System, has been a significant project and has been managed well, with all employers now successfully on-boarded. The audit identified that further work is required to ensure that the systems are working as effectively as possible and that robust controls are in place to ensure complete and accurate data is held by the Pension Fund. The key area where further work was required to be undertaken by the Pension Fund is in relation to monthly data checks.

The audit of Sci-Beta received a High Level of Assurance. A robust control environment was found to be in place and no recommendations were made.

The report detailed four post audit reviews that had been carried out during this period:

- III Health and Early Retirement
- New Custodian Northern Trust
- Employer Audit University of Bolton
- Pensions Benefit Payable

It was reported that there had been a new potential fraud case reported in the period which resulted in the amount of £712.52 being overpaid. This matter is still being investigated.

14 URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.